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Foreword

by Boris Dralyuk
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It may at first seem somewhat paradoxical that Viktor Shklovsky, who as a youthful firebrand of formalist criticism in the 1910s and ’20s railed against the naively biographical approach to the study of literature, went on to write a substantial, perceptive biography of Leo Tolstoy in 1963.I In truth it is no paradox: it’s a concession to reality, which Shklovsky never really denied. Once they are written, literary works may enjoy a high degree of autonomy—standing outside of and, ideally, outlasting their creators—but they are, nevertheless, the works of human beings, produced in a given place at a given time and pervaded by an infinite number of outside influences. It may be useful, when analyzing literary devices or structures, to declare the author dead and buried, but a fuller understanding of any work—and especially of its creation—requires the resurrection of its creator and his milieu.

In Creating Anna Karenina, Bob Blaisdell manages to do precisely that, painstakingly reconstructing the artistic laboratory in which this great novel was conceived, and, more impressively still, bringing to life Tolstoy himself. Drawing on letters and memoirs, on drafts and proofs, Blaisdell doesn’t merely piece together a history, he places us inside the author’s process, with its fits and starts, its bursts of inspiration and stretches of frustration. The result an intimate portrait and a journey of discovery. This sense of intimacy, this thrill of discovery set Blaisdell’s surprisingly gripping book apart from the ever-growing pack of monographs on Tolstoy’s masterpiece.

For readers of Anna Karenina who have never read a scholarly work about it, Blaisdell offers plenty of critical insight. Refreshingly, the insight is all his own. He has clearly read and absorbed tomes upon tomes of scholarship, but even when he might agree with one thinker or another, his judgment is rendered directly, without appeals to authority, in lively sentences that drive the point home—for example:


One trouble with Tolstoy’s essays and discourses is that in the midst of them Tolstoy seems to think they’re more important, more true than his art. They’re consistent but rigged, as they argue but they don’t discover. Expository prose brought out Tolstoy’s tendency of emphatically agreeing with himself. In his artistic productions, on the other hand, his sympathy and engagement with the imagined people and situations couldn’t be settled as an argument could; writing fiction induced his deepest attention and feeling.



The opinion isn’t new, but it is has seldom been expressed more engagingly, with such a winning combination of discernment and sympathy. This, too, is expository prose, but as in the best examples of the genre (certainly not Tolstoy’s), the reader feels the author’s mind move across the page, making discoveries as it goes.

From the very beginning, Blaisdell makes no bones about his devotion to Anna Karenina—his “book of books”—or about his deep admiration for its author, which borders on awe. But he is not in the least deluded about the messy, drawn-out act of composition, which doubles and redoubles on itself, or about the imperfect humanity of Tolstoy. Indeed, he is aware that the flaws are what fire the work. Had Tolstoy’s argument with himself been settled before he started, had his opinions been fixed, the fiction would have lain flat—if it ever emerged at all. As Tolstoy himself knew, creation requires “the energy of delusion.”I By this he meant the false belief in one’s own power, in the importance of one’s work, but borrowing the phrase for the title of a book of his own in 1981, Shklovsky extends the meaning: “The energy of delusion—the energy of searching freely—never left Tolstoy. […] He comes up with a flawed sketch of [a historical character for War and Peace], even though it contains the real facts and the real traits. [… T]he energy of trials, experiments, the energy of investigation compels him to describe again—a different person. This takes him years.”I

Readers less learned than Shklovsky may have intuited this much, but, until now, no one had undertaken to trace the years-long trials, experiments, and investigations that brought a “different person,” an Anna Karenina unlike the one Tolstoy had first envisioned, into existence. The central mystery of Creating Anna Karenina is indeed the emergence of that person, and its central revelation is the complex relationship between her and her “adoptive” father. As Blaisdell puts it, with customary vigor: “Anna was the character Tolstoy kept discovering, the one whose fate made him anxious and unhappy, the one whose momentum toward suicide gave her author terrifying visions of his own impulses.”

Over the last half decade, I have had the pleasure of editing Bob’s work for the Los Angeles Review of Books. He has become one of our go-to contributors, weighing in on everything from Ulysses S. Grant to Karl Ove Knausgaard, but we have particularly come to value his takes on the Russian masters—and especially on Tolstoy. In 2018, praising Viv Groskop’s The Anna Karenina Fix: Life Lessons from Russian Literature, Blaisdell limned the traits of that volume’s ideal reader: “you would have to have the confidence to know what you like, and to believe that books are like life, meant to be talked about, and that the lives of authors who have written world classics are inherently fascinating.”I The same holds, of course, for the ideal reader of this book. And it is unquestionably true of the creator of Creating Anna Karenina, to whom all such readers owe a debt.

I For a clear rejection of the purely biographical approach, see, for instance, Shklovsky’s “Letter to Tynyanov” in Third Factory, introduced and translated by Richard Sheldon (Champaign, IL: Dalkey Archive Press, 2002), p. 61: “One must write not about Tolstoy, but about War and Peace.” The 1963 biography was translated into English by Olga Shartse and published by Progress Publishers in Moscow in 1978.

II Letter to N. N. Strakhov, April 8, 1878, PSS 62: 410-412.

III Viktor Shklovsky, The Energy of Delusion: A Book on Plot, intro. and trans. by Shushan Avagyan (Champaign, IL: Dalkey Archive Press, 2007), p. 37.

IV Bob Blaisdell, “Tolstoy Untangled: On Donna Tussing Orwin’s ‘Simply Tolstoy’,” Los Angeles Review of Books, December 25, 2018, https://lareviewofbooks.org/article /tolstoy-untangled-on-donna-orwins-simply-tolstoy/.





A Note on the Spellings of Russian Names
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Let me offer a word about the various spellings from the English-language sources I have quoted. Transliterating Russian into English has evolved in the 134 years since Anna Karenina was first translated into English. The name Tolstoy sometimes used to appear as Tolstoi. The Cyrillic x is now customarily rendered as kh. Constance Garnett, whose translation (titled Anna Karenin, not Karenina) from 1901 is the one I have quoted throughout, renders the painter Mikhailov as Mihailov, which to my ear is closer to the Russian pronunciation than the potentially confusing and overemphasized k in kh. Rather than regularize my sources, I use the spellings each author or translator uses. In my own translations from Tolstoy’s letters and Russian sources, I try to conform to the conventions of the ALA-LC transliteration system, unless, for instance, the name through popular usage has more or less settled itself (e.g., Vronsky rather than Vronskiy; in the “Scientific Transliteration” system, sensible but odd-looking to most native English speakers, the spelling of Yasnaya Polyana becomes Jasnaja Poljana).




Introduction
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When reading a work, especially a purely literary one, the chief interest lies in the character of the author as expressed in the work.

—Leo Tolstoy, diaryI

“I have nothing to hide from anyone in the world: all may know what I do.”

—Leo Tolstoy to his brother-in-law Stepan BersII



When Tolstoy started writing Anna Karenina, he was forty-four. He guessed that he would finish the novel, conceived as only a novella, in two weeks. Anna Karenina took him more than four years. Even after sketching out the plot, it took him several months to reconceive Anna’s character. The driving motivation for him to commit to it as a serialized novel was that he was keen to buy horses; once the serialization started, however, nothing and no one, not even wild horses, could keep him on deadline. Several times he gave up or threatened to give up on the project. In about thirty of those fifty-three months he doesn’t seem to have done a lick of work on it. He agonized over the procrastination, but his artistic engagement with Anna’s character and her inevitable suicide probably tormented him even more.

When Tolstoy was in his seventies and was asked to reduce literature to one book, he chose David Copperfield. Ever since I read Anna Karenina for the first time when I was eighteen, my choice has been Anna Karenina. I read it at least twenty times in various translations before I decided to cut to the chase and learn Russian. After ten years I was able to read it in the original. Now, after repeated readings in Russian, it remains my book of books. This biographical study is the result of my quest to find out everything possible to know about what Tolstoy was doing during that period spanning the composition of this unprecedented novel. What sort of life was he living while writing—and while avoiding—the novel? During those four years, the challenges of the novel nagged at him through thick and thin, illness and health, death and birth, heaps of despair and moments of satisfaction. His biography is important because that novel is important.

In all the Russian and English biographies of him, the narrative of his Anna Karenina years has been recounted far too fast and loose. Even though many of his day-to-day movements and activities have been accounted for, I wanted to know them with the immediacy and depth that he continually gives us of his fictional people and places. But except in letters now and then, Tolstoy rarely described his own everyday life. It turns out that if we want to know what he, the artist, was thinking and feeling when he created Anna Karenina, the best source is that work itself.

Writing fiction was continually unsettling for him; the novel made him conscious of depths and fields of his thoughts and feelings. As he wrote, reread, and revised, to his surprise, despite that Anna was of a type he expressly despised, an adulterer living in high society St. Petersburg, he suddenly found her a new, real, sympathetic woman. From the point of view of the character Konstantin Levin meeting Anna for the first time, Tolstoy revealed his own personal artistic revelation:


While he followed this interesting conversation, Levin was all the time admiring her—her beauty, her intelligence, her culture, and at the same time her directness and genuine depth of feeling. He listened and talked, and all the while he was thinking of her inner life, trying to divine her feelings. And though he had judged her so severely hitherto, now by some strange chain of reasoning he was justifying her and was also sorry for her, and afraid that Vronsky did not fully understand her.III



And then, now that this extraordinary character had his sympathy and understanding, Tolstoy was faced with his own existential crisis. If she had everything—social standing, intelligence, beauty, love of her child, a steady marriage, vitality—how could she kill herself? Why did he, who also had everything (except beauty), find himself suicidal? It was as if he had walked into her bad dream and was sharing her fate. In his identification with her, her suicide became ominous.

The first chapter of this book shows Tolstoy trying to induce a state in which he could launch himself into a historical epic about the era of Peter the Great. The momentum he hoped would occur, as it had in the years of writing War and Peace (1863–1869), did not happen. He couldn’t give it legs. He had recently satisfied himself with a work of great effort and the finest of touches, his children’s primer known as the Azbuka. He had probably taken that project as far as it could go, though in the next two years, even after having started Anna Karenina, he would have to do a reconfiguring of it to make it popular. He was proud of the New Azbuka, but writing for the literacy instruction of children did not bring him to a critical realization of his own life, as Anna Karenina would.

Of the surviving manuscripts of drafts of Anna Karenina, some can be roughly dated, others can’t. In the transcribed manuscripts of redacted drafts, the editors show us that we have to settle for only the date after or before Tolstoy could have written a chapter or scene, and other times we can’t even know that. Despite those mysteries, we are always the lucky recipients of what he did publish, the glorious evidence that he left us on the hundreds of pages of what some of us think of as the world’s greatest novel. Sofia Tolstaya recopied some of the drafts as her husband wrote them, and she witnessed startling (and occasionally disappointing) transformations in his revisions. We can see that he made corrections on one set of galleys after another. He was fiercely meticulous about and protective of the writing when he was in its midst, but once the galleys were good to go, he was notoriously sloppy about the proofreading and often asked for help in completing that task.

A few years ago, as I proceeded through the letters from and memoirs about the mid-1870s, I often felt as if I were watching him the way his wife and friends watched him, wondering why he wasn’t writing. There he was, instead, going off to the Samara steppe to drink mare’s milk and buy horses or into the local woods to hunt. It continues to be surprising and pleasing to read of his interactions with his many children; but it’s also hard to see him and Sofia grieve over the deaths of close family members. At times he was short-tempered about the novel and while writing or trying to write it, he denounced it. We can sometimes imagine, in the face of contradictory evidence, that the novel might not survive his disgust with it. His friend Nikolai Strakhov and Sofia regularly worried that he really was going to abandon it.



There are various origin stories of Anna Karenina, but the only one that pans out is the grisly real-life incident that occurred at the Tolstoys’ local train station a year before he started the novel: “The fourth of this January [1872] at 7 in the evening an unknown young woman, well dressed, arriving at the Yasenki Moscow-Kursk railway in Krapivensky county, walked up to the rails at the time of the passing of the freight train number 77, crossed herself and threw herself on the rails under the train, and was cut in half. An enquiry has been made about the incident.”IV

Tolstoy and Sofia knew the “unknown young woman” of the news article: Anna Stepanovna Pirogova was the thirty-five-year-old mistress and housekeeper of one of the Tolstoys’ closest neighbors, Aleksandr Nikolaevich Bibikov, a forty-nine-year-old landowner and widower.

Sofia soon wrote her sister Tatyana Kuzminskiy about it. Tatyana had spent many months at the Tolstoys’ Yasnaya Polyana estate: “You remember, at Bibikov’s, Anna Stepanovna? Well, that Anna Stepanovna was jealous of Bibikov for all the governesses. Finally, of the latest, she got so jealous that Aleksandr Nikolaevich got angry and quarreled with her, and the consequence of which was that Anna Stepanovna left him altogether and went to Tula. For three days she was lost to sight; finally in Yasenki, on the third day at 5:00 o’clock in the evening, she appeared at the station with a bag. There she gave her driver a letter to Bibikov; she asked him to get and bring her tea and gave him one ruble. Bibikov didn’t accept the letter and when the driver returned again to the station he found out that Anna Stepanovna had rushed under a car and the train crushed her to death. Of course she did this on purpose. The investigators came… and they read this letter. In the letter it was written: ‘You are my killer; you will be happy with her if murderers can be happy. If you want to see me, you can view my body on the rails at Yasenki.’ What a story! For a few days we’ve been going around like crazies, getting together and explaining it. Bibikov is quite calm, says Levochka [Sofia’s pet name for her husband], and that his nerves are strong, he’ll get by. Levochka and Uncle Kostya went to look when they did the autopsy.”V

Sofia’s tone suggests that she didn’t see this event as a tragedy, and apparently neither did her husband. Tolstoy never wrote about or was quoted speaking about Pirogova’s suicide, but he certainly told Sofia about it. In addition to letters Sofia wrote to her sister, she noted in her diary: “Lev Nikolayevich saw her, with her head crushed, her body naked and mutilated, in the Yasenki barracks.” Tolstoy was sensitive and impressionable, but if a war, a guillotining, an autopsy, or a famine was happening nearby, he wanted to see it for himself. Sofia continues: “He was terribly shaken. He had known Anna Stepanovna as a tall, stout woman, Russian in face and character, a brunette with grey eyes, not beautiful but attractive.”VI

When Anna Karenina makes her first appearance in the novel, in a scene Tolstoy wrote two years later, she dazzles us and Vronsky as she exits her train from St. Petersburg in Moscow:


Vronsky followed the guard to the carriage, and at the door of the compartment he stopped short to make room for a lady who was getting out.

With the insight of a man of the world, from one glance at this lady’s appearance Vronsky classified her as belonging to the best society. He begged pardon, and was getting into the carriage, but felt he must glance at her once more; not that she was very beautiful, not on account of the elegance and modest grace which were apparent in her whole figure, but because in the expression of her charming face, as she passed close by him, there was something peculiarly caressing and soft. As he looked round, she too turned her head. Her shining grey eyes, that looked dark from the thick lashes, rested with friendly attention on his face, as though she were recognizing him, and then promptly turned away to the passing crowd, as though seeking someone. In that brief look Vronsky had time to notice the suppressed eagerness which played over her face, and flitted between the brilliant eyes and the faint smile that curved her red lips. It was as though her nature were so brimming over with something that against her will it showed itself now in the flash of her eyes, and now in her smile. Deliberately she shrouded the light in her eyes, but it shone against her will in the faintly perceptible smile.VII



Before we even know that she is, in fact, Anna Karenina, the novel’s namesake, but appearing only now in the eighteenth chapter, Tolstoy has completely attracted our attention to her.VIII We know, but Vronsky doesn’t, that she has come to try to salvage her brother Stiva Oblonsky’s marriage.

The first of two inquests in the novel occurs minutes after her and Vronsky’s fateful introduction to each other:


A guard, either drunk or too much muffled up in the bitter frost, had not heard the train moving back, and had been crushed.

Before Vronsky and Oblonsky came back the ladies heard the facts from the butler.

Oblonsky and Vronsky had both seen the mutilated corpse. Oblonsky was evidently upset. He frowned and seemed ready to cry.

“Ah, how awful! Ah, Anna, if you had seen it! Ah, how awful!” he said.

Vronsky did not speak; his handsome face was serious, but perfectly composed.

“Oh, if you had seen it, countess [that is, Vronsky’s mother],” said Stepan Arkadyevitch. “And his wife was there.… It was awful to see her!… She flung herself on the body. They say he was the only support of an immense family. How awful!”IX



Stepan (“Stiva”) Arkadevich Oblonsky is as sensitive here as his author; Tolstoy often responded with tears when overwhelmed by emotions. Stiva’s sensitivities, however, don’t last, as Tolstoy’s evidently did. By the end of the chapter, Stiva has shaken off the horror as easily as water off a duck’s back; he’s got his own problems, after all, for which Anna has come to his rescue. But Anna, the elegant, composed, ever-conscious, strikingly beautiful heroine, is unnerved. Though she didn’t witness the guard’s death, she can imagine it:


Madame Karenina seated herself in the carriage, and Stepan Arkadyevitch saw with surprise that her lips were quivering, and she was with difficulty restraining her tears.

“What is it, Anna?” he asked, when they had driven a few hundred yards.

“It’s an omen of evil,” she said.

“What nonsense!” said Stepan Arkadyevitch. “You’ve come, that’s the chief thing. You can’t conceive how I’m resting my hopes on you.”



Anna’s brother has the tact to change the subject. But she feels (and those of us who have read the novel know) that it is indeed an evil omen. Even if the incident recedes from Anna’s consciousness, Tolstoy has wound up a clock whose ticking we can almost always sense.X

The other inquest is accounted for in the epilogue, Part 8, when Vronsky and Stiva, united again at a train station, recall the aftermath of her death:


For an instant Stepan Arkadyevitch’s face looked sad, but a minute later, when, stroking his mustaches and swinging as he walked […] he had completely forgotten his own despairing sobs over his sister’s corpse […]XI



Stiva has his faults. But at worst, he resembles Aleksandr Bibikov, the Tolstoys’ lighthearted neighbor. “There’s nothing new with us,” Sofia wrote her sister Tatyana, less than four months after Anna Stepanovna Pirogova’s suicide, “besides that Bibikov married that same German over whom Anna Stepanovna killed herself.”XII

Vronsky, for his part, experiences a double dose of suffering. Vronsky has a bad toothache (as had Tolstoy at various times during the writing of the novel). Tolstoy delivers us into Vronsky’s two contrasting overwhelming pains:


He could hardly speak for the throbbing ache in his strong teeth, that were like rows of ivory in his mouth. He was silent, and his eyes rested on the wheels of the tender, slowly and smoothly rolling along the rails.

And all at once a different pain, not an ache, but an inner trouble, that set his whole being in anguish, made him for an instant forget his toothache. As he glanced at the tender and the rails, under the influence of the conversation with a friend he had not met since his misfortuneXIII, he suddenly recalled her—that is, what was left of her when he had run like one distraught into the cloak room of the railway station—on the table, shamelessly sprawling out among strangers, the bloodstained body so lately full of life; the head unhurt dropping back with its weight of hair, and the curling tresses about the temples, and the exquisite face, with red, half-opened mouth, the strange, fixed expression, piteous on the lips and awful in the still open eyes, that seemed to utter that fearful phrase—that he would be sorry for it—that she had said when they were quarreling.

And he tried to think of her as she was when he met her the first time, at a railway station too, mysterious, exquisite, loving, seeking and giving happiness, and not cruelly revengeful as he remembered her on that last moment. He tried to recall his best moments with her, but those moments were poisoned forever. He could only think of her as triumphant, successful in her menace of a wholly useless remorse never to be effaced. He lost all consciousness of toothache, and his face worked with sobs.XIV



As soon as Tolstoy began the first draft in March of 1873, a draft radically different in scope, focus, and tone from what the novel became, he knew the protagonist was going to kill herself. Tolstoy may have never mentioned Anna Pirogova’s suicide to anyone besides Sofia in its immediate aftermath, but writing Anna Karenina uncovered to him and to us its resonances. To his own continual irritation and frustration, harried by his own impulses to kill himself, he was going to spend four years describing the circumstances that led to her suicide. Anna’s death in Part 7 (followed by the epilogue known as Part 8), though rewritten many times by Tolstoy, right up to the galleys of the book edition, is not the climax but the origin of the book.






1 Readying for “a new big labor”: September 1872–March 1873
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It always seemed to me… that Leo Nikolaevich was not very fond of talking about literature, but was vitally interested in the personality of the author. The questions: “Do you know him? What is he like? Where was he born?” I often heard in his mouth. And nearly all his opinions would throw some curious light upon a man.

—Maxim GorkyI



What was Tolstoy like? Where was he born? He was born at the family estate 120 miles south of Moscow in 1828, the fourth of four brothers, the lone sister being two years younger than he. He was a “count” by inheritance of his father’s title. His mother, whose estate, Yasnaya Polyana, he, as the youngest boy, inherited, died before he was two. A series of aunts helped raise him and his siblings, as their father died when Tolstoy was eight. Tolstoy spent many of his teenage years with an aunt in Kazan, a thousand miles east, and became a student at the university there, but the brilliant boy didn’t like being taught, and after switching fields of study, during which time he read voraciously on his own, he left the university at age eighteen and moved back to Yasnaya Polyana, where he indulged in gambling, women, and music. He also set up and ran a school for the peasant children but quickly abandoned it. His letters as a young man usually brim with resolution and confidence, but sometimes they’re full of regret over his moral failures. He longed for military action and joined his brother Nikolai, an officer in the Russian army in the Caucasus, as a volunteer. He became an officer and a writer. At twenty-four, he published Childhood, the first of three semiautobiographical novels (Boyhood and Youth followed), which woke up the Russian literary community, including the most famous of them, Ivan Turgenev. Who was this new dynamo?

Meanwhile he served in the army for the next few years and saw action and wrote detailed accounts of the war in Sebastopol, which accounts were also justly admired. He left the Caucasus in 1855, and tried to make a go of literary life while still in the service in St. Petersburg but came to despise the atmosphere of the Russian capital. He returned to Yasnaya Polyana in 1856 and resigned from the army. He dreamed of marrying, but wavered. His novella Family Happiness (1859) looked at courtship and marriage from the point of view of a young woman. Russia’s serfs were freed in 1861, and Tolstoy saw that a primary need for them was literacy. One of the most satisfying projects of his life was the school for peasant children that he set up and ran on his estate from 1859 to 1862. He publicized his and his co-teachers’ work in the school in a periodical, but he seems to have grown distracted by both his longing for marriage and for writing a new fictional work. A Moscow family he and his family had known for years, the head of which was a doctor in the Kremlin, kept attracting his attention, particularly the youngest daughter, eighteen-year-old Sofia Andreevna Bers. Within months, they were engaged and married. Tolstoy gave up the running of the schools that he had set up on the estate and in the region, and in 1863 began work on what became War and Peace. The “family happiness” he had desired became his and Sofia’s. Between 1863 and 1873 they had six children; rarely for the time, the children all survived infancy. War and Peace appeared in installments starting in 1865 and was published as a whole in 1869. Though his work had not yet appeared in translation in Europe, he was now the most famous and most well-regarded author in Russia.

But what was he like? He was good-humored and moody, kind and understanding, bullheaded, humble, and contrary. He had terrific energy and long periods of aimlessness. He regularly started projects that he could not sustain or finish. He continually looked for a key that would simplify the complications and confusions of everyday life. He had strong impulses for answers that his studies of science, philosophy, and religion inspired him with. He could never settle for good his own ever-critical analyses of his own and others’ ideas.

For much of 1872 Tolstoy was more literarily active and productive than he would ever be again. He turned forty-four in September. Now he was bustling about with his Azbuka, the “ABC” book (or primer) for teaching Russia’s children to read. He would eventually denigrate almost every work he ever wrote, but not the Azbuka, which he saw as a life raft for the uneducated. In 1870, about 85 percent of the Russian population was illiterate.II In 1872 he started a school again in order to try out the methods he was advocating. His eldest daughter, Tanya, remembered:


Seryozha [that is, Sergei, the eldest sibling, born in 1863; she, Tanya, was a year younger] and I could already read and write quite passably. Ilya, then about six, could only just read and was very bad at writing; nevertheless he announced that he was going to teach the youngest class. Papa agreed, and the lessons began.

They lasted for slightly over two hours every day, beginning after our dinner, which was served between five and six, and continuing till it was time for us to go to bed. Papa took the boys’ class in his study. The girls were mamma’s responsibility, and she taught them in another room. We three children taught the absolute beginners their alphabet. Our classroom was the hall, and fat Ilya, a big pointer clutched in one hand, would try to teach the alphabet to rows of stolid little children much the same size as himself.III



Ten years before, when Tolstoy had been teaching the peasant children, he realized to his dismay that there were no good primers: “To print good books for the masses! How simple and easy it looks, just like all great ideas. There is just one difficulty: there are no good books for the people, not only in our country, but even not in Europe. In order to print such books they must be written first, but not one of the benefactors will think of undertaking this task.”IV

And so, several years later, having married and having completed War and Peace, he saw his own children begin to come of age as readers. He decided not to wait for some benefactor to undertake that Herculean task of writing “good books for the masses” and set about planning and composing his own primer; he adapted stories from world literature, folk literature, the Bible, local legends, science and nature studies, jokes, and, of special interest, he told or retold his own and friends’ “true stories” (a genre called byli in Russian). These stories are just what I would advise anyone wanting to learn Russian to read. The byli are full of voice and wit.V They are the essence of simplicity and drama, told in the first and third person in the most conversational, plain, and direct style. “They present,” writes a Russian scholar, “perfect models of the language as actually spoken.”VI For example, Tolstoy composed this story as told by a peasant boy:

HOW THE BOY TOLD ABOUT HOW HE STOPPED BEING SCARED OF BLIND BEGGARMEN


When I was a boy, blind beggarmen frightened me, and I was scared of them. One time I was walking home, and sitting on some porch-steps were two blind beggars. I didn’t know what they would do to me. I was scared to run away and I was scared to pass them. I thought they might grab me. Suddenly one of them (he had white eyes, like milk) got up, grabbed me by the hand, and said, “Little fellow! Are you kindly?” I tore loose from him and ran to my mother.

She sent me out with some half-kopecks and bread. The beggars rejoiced over the bread and crossed themselves and ate. Then the beggar with the white eyes said, “Your bread is good! God thanks you.” And he again took my hand, and he patted it. I felt sorry for him, and after that I stopped being afraid of blind beggarmen.VII



The lack of initial success of the Azbuka when it was published in the late fall of 1872 would come to annoy Tolstoy; the criticism it would receive would also distract him from completing Anna Karenina in its early conception, which as it turns out, for the sake of literary history, was probably a good thing, as he recast Anna Karenina while he was vastly recasting the Azbuka into its second form, the New Azbuka.VIII He often grew disgusted with his work on Anna Karenina, but he never tired of trying to get the Azbuka right. (He was so consumed with it that in the second to last part of Anna Karenina, completely out of the blue but not unbelievably, he realizes that Anna herself, living with Vronsky and lonely and ostracized in Moscow, has written a children’s novel.IX)

In October of 1872, the Azbuka was at the printer’s, his research into the era of Peter the Great seemed to be complete, and Tolstoy was in good spirits, raring to write a new historical epic.

One of his longtime correspondents was his distant relative Aleksandra (Alexandrine) Andreevna Tolstaya, with whom he was confessional and deferential (she was eleven years older).X In the early spring of 1872 Tolstoy expressed to her his amazement at his good fortune:


My life is just the same, i.e., I couldn’t wish for anything better. There are a few great and intellectual joys—just as many as I have the strength to experience—and a solid background of foolish joys, as for instance: teaching the peasant children to read and write, breaking in a young horse, admiring a large room newly built on to the house, calculating the future income from a newly purchased estate, a well done version of a fable by Aesop, rattling off a symphony for 4 hands with my niece, fine calves—all heifers—and so on. The great joys are a family which is terribly fortunate, children who are all fit and well, and, I’m almost certain, intelligent and unspoiled, and work. Last year it was the Greek language, this year it’s been the Primer so far, and now I’m beginning a big, new work [that is, about Peter the Great], in which there will be something of what I told you, although the whole thing is quite different, which is something I never expected. I feel altogether rested now from my previous work and entirely freed from the influence my writing had on me, and, most important, free of pride and praise. I’m starting work joyfully, timidly, and apprehensively, as I did the first time.XI



That fall of 1872, in another happy mood (evidence of such moods in the coming years is rare), Tolstoy wrote Alexandrine one of his most winning letters:


[…] having finished my Primer I recently began to write the big story—I don’t like to call it a novel—which I’ve been dreaming about for so long.XII



He didn’t want to jinx the Peter project by calling it a novel and he didn’t want to raise his own or anybody else’s expectations. He was excited, but he strove to cultivate a state of equilibrium:


And when this folly, as Pushkin so well called it, begins to take hold of you, you become particularly sensitive to the coarse things of life. Imagine a man in perfect stillness and darkness trying to hear the sounds of whispering and trying to see rays of light in the gloom, suddenly having stinking Bengal lights let off under his nose and having to listen to a march played on instruments that are out of tune. Very painful. Now once again I’m listening and watching in the stillness and darkness, and I only wish I could describe the hundredth part of what I see and hear. It gives me great pleasure. So much for my confession.



Despite there being, in the fall of 1872, six children between the ages of four months and nine years old at the Yasnaya Polyana house, the noise in the morning while Tolstoy was working at his writing was supposed to be at a minimum. Aylmer Maude describes Tolstoy’s morning routine at this time:


Before breakfast he would go for a walk with his brother in-law [one of Sofia’s brothers], or they would ride down to bathe in the river that flows by one side of the estate. At morning coffee the whole family assembled, and it was generally a very merry meal, Tolstoy being up to all sorts of jokes, till he rose with the words, “One must get to work,” and went off to his study, taking with him a tumbler full of tea. While at work in his room not even his wife was allowed to disturb him; though at one time his second child and eldest daughter, Tatyana, while still quite a little girl, was privileged to break this rule.XIII



The Tolstoy family’s room arrangements varied, and Tolstoy didn’t always have the now more famous vaulted downstairs room for his writing. His private study in other periods was upstairs.

There are several drawings, paintings, and photos of Tolstoy, when he was older, composing at his desk. In a sketch by Ilya Repin from 1891, for example, Tolstoy leans closely over paper, not especially hunched but like someone who has just finished swimming laps and has raised one elbow on the edge of the pool. The bearded, balding man wears a peasant blouse. His right leg is bent under his left, his shoed right foot comfortably poking out behind him. He is sitting not on a sawn-off chair, as in some images, but on a stool or crate with a plank across it, and not at his perimeter-fenced rectangular desktop, but at a circular table that has attractive bends and twists in the central post. His pen is upright. Repin shows us the author’s big hands; his right gripping the pen, his left holding down the top page and the papers below it. Tolstoy’s hair is uncombed. His beard hangs down his chest. He is not smiling. Though nearsighted, he is not squinting; his handwriting is probably as messy as usual, most easily decipherable by patient Sofia.


[image: Image]
Leo Tolstoy working at the round table, 1891, by Ilya Repin.XIV



“Patient?!” exclaims the ghost of exasperated Sofia. Her exhausting labor of recopying night after night his handwritten drafts was an act of faith and love by a devoted admirer. This man, her husband, was writing for the ages, and she was his helpmate. In the mid- and late 1860s, when the War and Peace galleys would be set in type by printers in Moscow from Sofia’s recopied manuscripts, they would be sent back to Tolstoy, and “the work would begin all over again.”


At first only corrections, omitted letters, and stops would be marked in the margins, then occasional words would be changed, then entire sentences, and then entire paragraphs would be taken out and others substituted. When he had finished with them, the proofs looked fairly clean in places and black with corrections in others. They could not be returned because no one but the Countess was able to disentangle the maze of corrections, lines, and words. She would spend another night copying. In the morning a neat stack of pages in her small, precise handwriting would be on her desk, ready to be mailed. Tolstoy would pick them up to look them over “for the last time,” and in the evening they would be back again with everything changed and covered with corrections.

“Sonya [Tolstoy’s pet name for Sofia], darling, excuse me; again I have spoiled your work; I will never do it again,” he once said with an apologetic air, showing her the pages. “We will send them off tomorrow.”

Often “tomorrow” dragged on for weeks and months.XV



The biographer Tikhon Polner goes on to describe Tolstoy’s summer routines in times of contentedness, which means almost certainly before 1875:


Tolstoy rose quite late, came out of the bedroom in a bathrobe and, with his beard tangled and uncombed, went to dress downstairs in his study. He emerged, dressed in a gray shirt and feeling energetic and refreshed, and went into the dining room to drink tea. The children were already eating their lunch. When no guests were present, he never lingered in the dining room. Carrying a glass of tea, he went back to his study. […] The Countess settled in the drawing room to sew clothes for one of the children or to finish copying a manuscript that she had not had time to get through the night before. Peasant men and women, with their children, frequently came to her with their ills; she talked to them, tried to help them, and distributed, free of charge, standard medicines, which she kept in the house [Sofia was a doctor’s daughter]. Until three or four in the afternoon complete quiet reigned in the house. “Lev is at work!” Then he came out of his study, went for a walk or a swim. Sometimes he went with a gun and a dog, sometimes on horseback, sometimes on foot. At five the bell in front of the house was rung. The children ran to wash their hands. Everybody gathered for dinner. Very often Tolstoy was late. He came in much embarrassed, apologized to his wife, and poured himself a silver whiskey glass full of homemade brandy. Usually he was hungry and ate anything that was already on the table. The Countess tried to restrain him, and asked him not to eat so much cereal because the meat and vegetables were still to come.

“Your liver will bother you again!”

He never listened and kept asking for more until he had his fill.

With great animation he recounted his impressions of the afternoon. Everyone enjoyed them. He joked with the children and with anyone at the table, and no one could resist his gay mood. After dinner he worked in his study again, and at eight the entire family gathered around the samovar. They talked, read aloud, played, sang, and very often the children who were in the same room were included. For the children the day ended at ten o’clock, but voices could be heard in the drawing room until much later. Cards and chess were always popular, and so were endless arguments. Tolstoy sat at the piano and the Countess played four-hands with him, trying desperately to keep time. Occasionally her sister Tatyana sang for them. […] Summer in Yasnaya Polyana was a continuous round of festivities. Their relatives were irresistibly attracted by the charming family. […]XVI



When he had married at age thirty-four in September 1862, Tolstoy’s idea of happiness was just this: two parents, a gang of kids, activity and fruitfulness.

His friends and family associated Levin, the costar of Anna Karenina, with Lev Tolstoy, and, at first impression, so should we. At the beginning of the novel, Levin, thirty-four, lives on an estate that even today resembles Yasnaya Polyana. At the same age as Tolstoy was in 1862, Levin undergoes the same agonies of disappointment and hope in regard to his beloved eighteen-year-old Kitty, who resembles in many ways Sofia Tolstaya in 1862, when Sofia was eighteen. On the other hand, notes Polner, “Levin lacks Tolstoy’s genius, and is therefore at times quite boring.”XVII To remind ourselves: by the age of thirty-four, the ever-fascinating, occasionally exasperating genius Tolstoy had written the superb trilogy of novellas, Childhood, Boyhood, and Youth, as well as other world-class novellas, stories, and pedagogical essays. Levin isn’t an artist; the book he is writing about Russian farming will be of no interest to anyone but three or four people besides himself.

Knowing Anna Karenina as it is, with the two primary storylines devoted to Anna and Levin, it can seem surprising that Tolstoy didn’t invent the Tolstoy-like Levin for Anna Karenina until after several drafts of early chapters. It seems that he started to feel the need for a predictable character to lean on and steady himself; as the novel took hold of him, Anna was the character Tolstoy kept discovering, the one whose fate made him anxious and unhappy, the one whose momentum toward suicide gave her author terrifying visions of his own impulses; by contrast, everything that Levin does and feels was familiar to Tolstoy. Episodes about Levin allowed Tolstoy to narrate through calm seas. Even if the novel becomes about Levin’s development, he doesn’t change so much as fulfill his role.

In the mid-1860s, a few years into marriage, Tolstoy proudly announced to his confidante Alexandrine that he had found happiness:


You remember I wrote you once saying that people are wrong when they search for a happiness that means no work, no falsehoods, no bitterness, and only serenity and bliss. I was wrong! Such happiness exists; I have known it for the last three years, and each day it becomes deeper and more serene. The material that creates this happiness is not particularly attractive: children who—excuse me—wet themselves and cry; a wife who is nursing one, leading the other by the hand, and constantly accusing me of not being aware that they are on the verge of death; and paper and ink, which are my tools for describing events that have never taken place, and emotions of people who have never existed.XVIII



I like to keep these images of Tolstoy in mind; one is of him in the chaos and joy of young family life; the other is of him as the artist amazed and satisfied that he is making something real from his imagination. In the midst of his early domestic life, he was composing War and Peace. This is the life Sofia would remember and long for; this was the sweet privileged family life that Tolstoy would later, from guilt, try to renounce.

Even in 1872, the Tolstoy family was the happy family supposedly like all other happy families. Sofia, twenty-eight, married ten years, had been pregnant six times and had delivered safely six times. All the children were alive and well. Tolstoy was the proud papa of a huge crew that he was expecting to get even bigger.

His October 1872 letter to Alexandrine, interrupted a few pages ago, goes on. Most of Tolstoy’s letters are not newsy or conversationally relaxed, but this one is. In St. Petersburg, the capital, Alexandrine at this time was the governess of Tsar Alexander II’s daughter Maria, who later married the second son of Queen Victoria of England. Alexandrine never had children, but she was apparently, lately, curious about Tolstoy’s. Though a relative, Alexandrine had never been a visitor to Yasnaya Polyana and Sofia only met her husband’s longtime correspondent for the first time in 1877.

Tolstoy reminded Alexandrine that she had given him “a subject for my letter which I would like to write on—namely my children.”

Here they are:


The eldest [nine] is fair-haired—and not bad-looking. There is something weak and forbearing in his expression, and very gentle. When he laughs, it’s not contagious, but when he cries I can hardly refrain from crying, too. Everyone says he is like my elder brother. I’m afraid to believe it. It would be too good. My brother’s chief characteristic was not egoism and not unselfishness, but a strict middle course. He didn’t sacrifice himself for anybody, but he didn’t get in anybody’s way, far less do anybody any harm. He kept his joys and sorrows to himself. Seryozha is clever—he has a mathematical mind and a feeling for art, he’s an excellent pupil, good at jumping and gymnastics; but he’s gauche and absent-minded. There’s little originality in him. He’s dependent on the physical. When he’s well he’s a very different boy from when he’s ill.



Tolstoy’s favorite elder brother was Nikolai (1823–1860); for Tolstoy, Nikolai’s death resounded for many years. What may seem most surprising to us in this letter is how modern and involved a father Tolstoy was. At least through the 1870s, he knew his children as deeply as his wife did. He was the one they clowned and played around with; for all her attention to and worry about them, Sofia was more reserved with them. “She rarely laughed or enjoyed jokes, and as a deeply religious woman she tended to see the business of loving and caring for her husband and children as bound up with inevitable suffering, sorrow, and sacrifice. Perhaps,” speculates R. F. Christian, “this explains why the children always addressed her in the formal ‘you,’ even though she was always there to scold or reassure them, while their father, who was much more distant and inaccessible, was always ‘thou.’ ”XIX

Tolstoy then described for Alexandrine his second son:


Ilya is the 3rd child [six years old]. He’s never been ill. He’s big-boned, fair-skinned, ruddy-complexioned and glowing. A bad pupil. Always thinking about what he’s told not to. Thinks up games himself. Neat and tidy; possessive; “mine” very important to him. Hot-tempered, violent, pugnacious; but also tender and very sensitive. Sensual—fond of eating and having a quiet lie down. When he eats blackcurrant jelly and buckwheat porridge his lips smack.

Perhaps that very morning those childish lips had smacked!

Original in everything. When he cries, he’s angry at the same time, and unpleasant, but when he laughs everyone laughs, too.



The character in Anna Karenina who takes a similarly quick bead on children’s personality traits is Aunt Anna, who knows and gauges her brother Stiva’s gang of five:


“Merciful heavens, Tanya! You’re the same age as my Seryozha,” she added, addressing the little girl as she ran in. She took her in her arms and kissed her. “Delightful child, delightful! Show me them all.”



She mentioned them, not only remembering the names, but the years, months, characters, and illnesses of all the children, and Dolly could not but appreciate that.

Knowing the details of the children’s lives meant so much to Tolstoy, and in the beginning of the novel it means so much to Anna and to Dolly, the mother of those five children. Dolly, not her husband Stiva, however, is the parent who keenly distinguishes the characters of the children. A sign of Anna’s future disengagement and loss of footing will occur with the birth of her second child, a girl. She will know less about her toddler than does Vronsky, the father, or even than her husband Karenin, who acts as a foster father.

In the letter to Alexandrine, Tolstoy was fascinated and amused by his son Ilya:


Everything forbidden has its attractions for him, and he gets to know about it at once. When still a little fellow he overheard my pregnant wife saying she could feel the movement of her child. For a long time his favourite game was to stuff something round underneath his jacket, stroke it with a tense hand and whisper with a smile: “It’s baby.” He would also stroke all the bumps where the furniture springs had broken and say “baby.” Recently, when I was writing stories for my Primer he invented one of his own: “A boy asked: ‘Does God go to the lavatory?’ God punished him and the boy had to spend all his life going to the lavatory.’ ”



Tolstoy never wrote such a letter again; he never again surveyed his family in such a pleased, proud, and detailed way. At this time he expressed no regrets about their way of life, even if he betrayed the anxiety of any parent who foresees future calamities:


If I die, the elder boy will turn out a splendid fellow, wherever he gets to, and will almost certainly be top at school, but Ilya will come to grief unless he has a strict supervisor and one he loves.



Tolstoy illustrated his point about his boys in his usual brilliant, apparently simple, narrative mode:


In summer we used to go bathingXX; Seryozha would ride himself, and I would put Ilya in the saddle behind me. I came out one morning and they were both waiting. Ilya was wearing a hat and carrying a towel, all neat and tidy and beaming, but Seryozha had come running up from somewhere, hatless and out of breath. “Find your hat,” I said, “or I won’t take you.” Seryozha ran hither and thither—but no hat. “It’s no good, I won’t take you without a hat. It will be a lesson for you, you’re always losing everything.” He was on the verge of tears. I set off with Ilya and waited to see if he showed any sympathy. None at all. He just beamed, and talked about the horse. My wife found Seryozha in tears. He’d looked for his hat and couldn’t find it. She guessed that her brother, who had gone off early in the morning to fish, had put on Seryozha’s hat. She wrote me a note to say that Seryozha was probably not to blame for losing his hat, and she was sending him on to me in a cap. (She had guessed rightly.) I heard rapid footsteps on the bridge leading to the bathing-place and Seryozha came running up (he’d lost the note on the way) and began to sob. Then Ilya did too, and so did I a little.



Tolstoy loved his sons but may not have been as charmed by them as he was by his daughters. And in Anna Karenina, Stiva Oblonsky may have shared Tolstoy’s own affinity for daughters over sons:


Two childish voices (Stepan Arkadyevitch recognized the voices of Grisha, his youngest boy, and Tanya, his eldest girl) were heard outside the door. They were carrying something, and dropped it.

“I told you not to sit passengers on the roof,” said the little girl in English; “there, pick them up!”

“Everything’s in confusion,” thought Stepan Arkadyevitch; “there are the children running about by themselves.” And going to the door, he called them. They threw down the box, that represented a train, and came in to their father.

The little girl, her father’s favorite, ran up boldly, embraced him, and hung laughingly on his neck, enjoying as she always did the smell of scent that came from his whiskers. At last the little girl kissed his face, which was flushed from his stooping posture and beaming with tenderness, loosed her hands, and was about to run away again; but her father held her back.

“How is mamma?” he asked, passing his hand over his daughter’s smooth, soft little neck. “Good morning,” he said, smiling to the boy, who had come up to greet him. He was conscious that he loved the boy less, and always tried to be fair; but the boy felt it, and did not respond with a smile to his father’s chilly smile.XXI



Tolstoy’s magic with the character of Stiva is that the ever charming, ever conscious socializer, not to mention the ever calculating philanderer, never seems to be a stand-in for the author. And yet in Stiva’s loving behavior as a father we do see something of his author.

Tolstoy continued to Alexandrine:


Tanya is 8. Everyone says she is like Sonya [again, Tolstoy’s usual affectionate name for Sofia], and I believe it, even though it’s a good thing to believe, but I also believe it because it’s obvious. If she had been Adam’s eldest daughter and there had been no children younger than her, she would have been an unhappy girl. Her greatest pleasure is to play with little children. She obviously finds physical enjoyment in holding and touching a child’s body. Her avowed dream now is to have children. The other day we went to Tula to have her portrait done. She began to ask me to buy a penknife for Seryozha, then something else for another child and something else for a third. She knows exactly what will give most pleasure to each one. I didn’t buy anything for her, and she never for a moment thought about herself. On our way home I said “Tanya, are you asleep?” “No.” “What are you thinking about?” “I’m thinking when we get home how I’ll ask mama whether little Lev has been good, and how I’ll give him a present, and somebody else a present, and how Seryozha will pretend he doesn’t like it, but will really like it very much.”



It seems, especially in this narrative mode, that Tolstoy understands his children the way he understands his characters. He appreciates what they do and what they say, their physical manifestations, their movements and inclinations. The proud father’s frank evaluations, on the other hand, might take us aback:


She’s not very clever. She doesn’t like to put her mind to work, but the mechanism in her head is sound.



His next remark, about her probable conventionality, actually more reveals his own conventionality at the time:


She’ll be a splendid wife if God should give her a husband. And I’m prepared to give a huge prize to anyone who could make a new woman out of her.



Tolstoy had to be imagining that he would continue being the generous-hearted father he was now. He turned out, instead, in his fifties and beyond, to be rather possessive of his grown-up daughters, and, as it happened, Tanya wasn’t conventional and made herself something of “a new woman” on her own: she married late, to a widower, and only had one child.XXII


The 4th—Lev [three years old]. Good-looking, clever, a good memory, graceful. Any clothes fit him as though made for him. Anything other people do he can do too, and very cleverly and well. I don’t understand him properly yet.

The 5th—Masha. Two years old [actually only 20 months], the one who nearly cost Sonya her life. A weak, sickly child; milk-white body, curly fair hair, large, strange blue eyes—strange because of their deep, serious expression. Very clever, and unattractive to look at. She’s going to be an enigma. She’ll suffer, and search and find nothing; but she’ll go on searching for ever for what is most attainable.



Masha’s birth and Sofia’s consequent nearly fatal puerperal fever would become part of Anna Karenina’s story. (I’ll discuss this unhappy connection in a later chapter.)

Tolstoy has described his children’s characters, but they don’t seem limited or fixed. He squares them up in his vision and predicts something of their fates, and their fates are nearly their characters:


The 6th—Pyotr [four months old]. A giant. An enormous, fascinating baby in a bonnet. He puts his elbows out and tries to crawl somewhere, and my wife gets agitated and excited and het up when she takes him in her arms, but I don’t understand it at all. I know he has great physical reserves, but I don’t know whether there is also anything for which they are needed. For this reason I don’t like children less than 2 or 3 years old—I don’t understand them. […]XXIII



By this point we should wonder about Sofia’s point of view. Pyotr was the last, of course, for now. Tolstoy wanted lots and lots of children, didn’t want to stop having them, while Sofia was tired and wanted a pause. Contraception was available (Sofia knew more about it than—we discover late in the novel—Stiva’s wife, Dolly, knows), but Tolstoy scorned contraception, believing sex for sex’s sake (as a married man) was immoral. He needed to temper his shame about his lustfulness by believing that the act could result in procreation.

After the birth of their second baby in 1864, Sofia was suffering from cracked nipples, and when she begged Tolstoy to hire a wet nurse, he threw fits. He was impatient about maintaining his complete dream of family life, and he felt nursing shouldn’t include anybody but the mother and baby. Readers may remember Levin’s disappointment in himself when Kitty has their baby and how its helplessness bothers him, but by 1872, Tolstoy was accustomed to his deficient understanding of infants.

However we judge Tolstoy as a father or husband, Anna Karenina shows us that the dynamics of family life fascinated him. Through Tolstoy we, family-focused or not, are captivated by the Oblonskys. We become thoughtful about family dynamics; we recognize the unfairness and simultaneously accept that Stiva maintains the sympathy of friends and family despite his cheating heart.

Sofia Tolstaya’s husband was more dependable than Dolly Oblonskaya’s, but Sofia’s happiness was more obviously tied to Tolstoy’s than Dolly’s to Stiva’s. Though Sofia had grown weary of copying out portions of Tolstoy’s Azbuka, as it wasn’t fiction for adults and didn’t engage her, in the fall of 1872 she was looking forward to helping him with his grand new historical novel about Peter the Great’s era.

That fall, just a couple of days after Tolstoy’s proud letter to Alexandrine, Sofia wrote to her sister Tatyana: “Levochka has just begun a novel and is very happy and enjoying his labor to come.”XXIV

If he was “very happy,” she was very happy.



In early November 1872, Tolstoy wrote to a close friend, the poet Afanasy Fet, with whom he often shared domestic news: “We’ve just now all gone skating as a family.” (The winter freeze had already occurred in Yasnaya Polyana, 120 miles south of Moscow.) Afanasy Fet (1820–1892), one of Tolstoy’s best friends in this period, was a famous poet whose work Tolstoy usually greatly admired. Fet and Tolstoy were at the time as if on the same Russian Olympic literature team. Fet was someone to whom Tolstoy never condescended. Fet never documented his friendship with Tolstoy, and neither did Tolstoy with him. They shared an interest in literature but probably an even larger one in horses. Fet was a family man, so they also regularly exchanged news about their children and wives. He mentioned to Fet, seemingly with high hopes, the impending publication of the Azbuka. But as for the Peter the Great novel, there was a stall: “I’m readying everything to write, but I can’t say that I have begun.”XXV

Tolstoy devoured books and kept notebooks for his research on Peter. He found that one little detail could give him the essence of a moment or of a character.

In Sofia’s “Various Notes for Future Reference,” which had a separate place in her diaries, she observed:


He jots down in various little notebooks anything that might come in useful for an accurate description of the manners, customs, clothes, houses, and the general way of life in this period—particularly that of the peasants and those far from court and the Tsar. Elsewhere he jots down any ideas he may have about the characters, plot, poetic passages, and so on. It’s like a mosaic. He is so immersed in the details that he came back especially early from hunting yesterday, as he wanted to go through various documents to find out whether one writer was correct in saying that they wore high collars with the short kaftan in the days of Peter the Great. L. thinks these were worn only with the long coats, particularly amongst the lower orders. […]XXVI



Amid everything that he had collected and digested about Peter the Great, he was nevertheless stymied.

Sofia had been watching him like a hawk for any sign of movement with his writing. On November 19, she wrote her younger brother, Stepan:


Levochka sits, surrounded by a heap of books, portraits, pictures, and frowning, reads, makes marks, makes notes. At night, when the children have lain down to sleep, he tells me his plans and what he wants to write; sometimes he’s disenchanted, goes into a terrible despair and thinks that nothing’s going to come out, and sometimes he’s so close to getting to work with great excitement; but one still can’t say that he wrote, only that he prepared himself [to do so].XXVII



Her progress report to her sister Tatyana at the end of November was more hopeful: “Now Levochka is especially heartily working on the story of Peter the Great. He gathers material, reads, writes, labors terribly, and wants to write a novel from that epoch. We’re leading more than ever a solitary and laborious life.”XXVIII Sofia, having grown up in Moscow, on the Kremlin grounds, often rued their “solitary” life. Despite that the Tolstoy family’s letters and diaries make it seem as if they had a constant stream of visitors, Yasnaya Polyana was plain and simple country living; visitors necessarily came a long way; traveling there was a slow adventure until the mid-1860s, when a railroad station connected Moscow with Tula, the small city a dozen miles from Tolstoy’s estate.

At the beginning of December 1872, Tolstoy took a train to Moscow for the baptism of his grandniece.XXIX He often declared he didn’t like trains. However, to catch Tolstoy out in contradictions or seeming contradictions is easy; he was usually the first to point them out. Despite Tolstoy’s dislike of trains, he continually used them and would eventually, at the age of eighty-two, run away from home by train and finally die beside the tracks in a stationmaster’s house. Trains are the locomotion that bring Anna into and out of the novel; they could bring Tolstoy up to or back from Moscow in a couple of hours. On this quick little trip, Tolstoy went to a Moscow bookstore and bought seven more books on Peter; he met with a literary friend, Pavel Golokhvastov, who gave him a list of his own Peter-related books; Tolstoy later picked thirteen of them he wanted to borrow.

Back home from Moscow a few days later, he wrote Alexandrine a newsy, cheerful note, concluding with the mention that “in the winter [we’re] at work from morning to night.”XXX

That parting line suggests he was not blocked about the writing, but he was in fact stuck.

In mid-December Tolstoy wrote to his most important friend of this decade, the critic Nikolai Strakhov, and admitted, “I have not been working. I have surrounded myself with books on Peter I and his time; I read, take notes, endeavor to write, and I can not. But what an age for an artist. Wherever one looks, everything is a problem, a riddle whose solution is possible only through poetry. The entire knot of Russian life rests here. It even seems to me that nothing will come of my preparations. I have already been taking aim too long, and I am too excited. I will not be distressed if nothing comes of this.”XXXI He seems to have begun preparing himself to abandon the project.

The holidays, a festive time at Yasnaya Polyana ever since Lev and Sofia’s marriage, were shared with Tolstoy’s old friend Dmitrii Alekseevich D’yakov (a widower) D’yakov’s daughter, and a few relatives.

Tolstoy had begged his lone surviving brother Sergei to come and bring his daughter and also wondered if Sergei could lend him fifteen hundred rubles. For the next few years, it would not be unusual for Tolstoy to rummage for money to buy land or horses. This is one area where Levin seems more responsible than Tolstoy; Levin is careful about money. Tolstoy, like Stiva Oblonsky, sometimes began trying to buy before he had the money; he had more wants than means. Tolstoy explained to Sergei that the Azbuka had been “a fiasco” and “won’t make money,” and it would be best if he could pay him back in a year, with interest.XXXII

In the new year 1873’s first letter, Tolstoy wrote to thank Golokhvastov for the books about Peter, but complained that he hadn’t been able to shake off a gloomy feeling: “I’m this whole winter in so heavy, abnormal a state. I’m tormented, I’m agitated, I’m horrified by this submission, I despair, and I’m sure leaning toward that conviction that nothing besides torment is coming out of this.”XXXIII

The biographer Nikolai Gusev highlights Tolstoy’s attempt to light the fire of imagination, pointing out that “on this very day” of his frustrated letter to Golokhvastov, “he writes a letter to his acquaintance V. K. Istomin, working in Novocherkassk, with the request to paint ‘a picture of that place’ above the Azov, where the military action under Peter had taken place. He wanted to know: ‘which bank of the Don […] is there—where was it high, where was it narrow? Were there hills, mounds? Were there bushes […] what kind of grass? Was there feather grass? Were there reeds? What kind of wildlife? And in the main currents of the Don […] what was the main character it had, what kind of bank?’ He asks [Istomin] to name for him the books that his questions were interested in and to indicate ‘whether there was anything… of Peter’s Azovian campaign?’ ”XXXIV

He wanted those eyewitness descriptions of Peter’s campaign. He wanted to reengage himself the way he almost effortlessly became engaged by the people and customs in War and Peace. But where his imagination excitedly made connections in the mid-1860s to the first two decades of the 19th century, he was now lost and waiting. He had researched and researched, so why couldn’t he transport himself in his imagination to 1700?

Gusev counts thirty-three starts of the Peter novel and divides them into six categories of focus.XXXV As summarized, they seem like trial balloons that couldn’t quite carry Tolstoy away. Peter was just too awful—his cruelty, his participation in torture, his killing of his own son. The whole epoch, remembered Stepan Bers, made Tolstoy feel “unsympathetic.” Peter’s life and character, which had been fascinating to Tolstoy, ended up disgusting him.

Meanwhile, he was also aggravated by the Azbuka’s poor sales and reviews, and so sure was he (he would be proved right) that the Azbuka deserved success, it would divide his attention and he would spend a good portion of the next year and a half revising it and recasting it.

Near the end of January, “Tolstoy journeyed to his brother’s at Pirogovo for the burial of his child.”XXXVI From that bare note in the first volume of Gusev’s Letopis’ (a chronicle of almost eight hundred pages accounting for Tolstoy’s day-to-day or week-to-week movements and activities from childhood to 1890), my imagination began asking for details. For starters, how did the bad news arrive? Did a servant of Sergei’s carry a letter and make his way those thirty miles to Yasnaya Polyana on horseback or in a sleigh? What was Tolstoy thinking as he took the long cold midwinter journey to Sergei’s? Did he become agitated about his own children’s vulnerability?

As has often happened in the course of researching Tolstoy’s years writing Anna Karenina, I wanted the details about his life presented as vividly and significantly as only he himself could present them. I wonder if Tolstoy set off similarly to how Nikita and Vasili would one day set out in his novella Master and Man:


[…] the day was windy, dull, and cold, with more than twenty degrees Fahrenheit of frost. Half the sky was hidden by a lowering dark cloud. In the yard it was quiet, but in the street the wind was felt more keenly. The snow swept down from a neighbouring shed and whirled about in the corner near the bath-house.

Hardly had Nikita [“Man”] driven out of the yard and turned the horse’s head to the house, before Vasili Andreevich [“Master”] emerged from the high porch in front of the house with a cigarette in his mouth [Tolstoy smoked cigarettes even into his sixties], and wearing a cloth-covered sheep-skin coat tightly girdled low at his waist, and stepped onto the hard-trodden snow which squeaked under the leather soles of his felt boots, and stopped. Taking a last whiff of his cigarette he threw it down, stepped on it, and letting the smoke escape through his moustache and looking askance at the horse that was coming up, began to tuck in his sheepskin collar on both sides of his ruddy face, clean-shaven except for the moustache, so that his breath should not moisten the collar.XXXVII



While Master Vasili is venturing out into that wintry day on business, Tolstoy’s purpose in 1873 was to console his brother and his brother’s family.

Tolstoy wrote a letter to Fet shortly after the funeral of Sergei’s child. In it he reflected on the importance of religion in dealing with death and discussed details he could not have written to his childless bachelor friend Strakhov or mentioned to his own reasonably anxious wife. That is, amid the awkwardness of the ceremony of death, what do you say, what do you do? There’s something practical to do and there’s the absurdity of religious ceremony, but the ceremony somehow helps:


[…] I recently visited my brother; a child of his had died and was being buried. There were priests, and a pink coffin, and everything there ought to be. My brother and I took the same view about religious rites as you do, and when we were together we couldn’t help expressing to one another a feeling almost of revulsion at this ritualism. But then I began to think: well, what could my brother have done to carry the decomposing body of his child out of the house in the end? How should it have been carried out? By a coachman in a sack? And where should it be put, how should it be buried? What, generally speaking, is a fitting way to end things? Is there anything better than a requiem incense, etc.? (I, at least, can’t think of anything.) And what about growing weak and dying? Should one wet oneself, s…XXXVIII, and nothing more? That’s no good.XXXIX



Tolstoy was edging toward a conviction that he would describe later in Confession: those human social activities that make everyday life possible for the majority of people in the world have “something” to them and shouldn’t be held in contempt by nonbelievers. For now, he concluded:


[…] The remarkable thing about religion is that for so many centuries and for so many millions of people it has rendered a service, the very greatest service that any human thing can render on this occasion. With such a task, how can it be logical? It is an absurdity, but the one out of many millions of absurdities which is suitable for this occasion. There is something in it.

It’s only to you that I allow myself to write such letters. […]XL



With Fet, he sometimes extended himself and wrote his feelings directly onto the page. The postscript to this letter has been left out in R. F. Christian’s English translation:


My letter is wild because I’m terribly out of spirits. My work is underway—terribly difficult. Preparations of studying are not finished, the plan is completely building up, but the strength, feeling, all that is less and less. A day of health and three not.XLI



Peter’s world was not where Tolstoy wanted to go. He could feel his wife and friends looking expectantly at him. It’s as if his well-wishers wanted to travel with him to the launch of his new project, but instead all they were seeing was his continual repacking for it.

Meanwhile, he was so testy that he responded to Alexandrine’s letter of praise of War and Peace by scoffing that to him that novel was “completely disgusting,” and while trying to decide how to prepare it for inclusion in an eight-volume edition of his collected works (the last four volumes contained that novel), he had experienced “the feeling of despair, shame.”XLII Tolstoy became even more irritable every time he thought about the Azbuka and its unhappy reception, and he warned Alexandrine off his pride and joy:


Please don’t look at my Primer. You haven’t taught little children, you’re far removed from the people, and you will see nothing in it. I’ve put more work and love into it than into anything else I’ve done, and I know that this is the one important work of my life. It will be appreciated in years’ time or so by those children who study from it.XLIII



He had a remedy for the chronic problem of education in Russia, and he resented the authorities for not letting him apply it.

In early February Tolstoy “read aloud with his wife the novel of Gustave Droz, Babolain, which T.,” Sofia told her sister, “ ‘very much likes.’ ”XLIV

Whenever Sofia took her turn reading (assuming they took turns), did Tolstoy sit, eyes closed, nodding, murmuring approval or interest or surprise? Was it something like a couple watching TV together? When he read was Sofia sewing, mending, daydreaming? Was Tolstoy smoking? We can assume they were reading it in French. Their French had to be very good. From recordings made near the end of his life, we can hear Tolstoy’s reedy actual voice in Russian as well as a couple of short messages that he delivered in French, German, and English.XLV But what about Sofia’s voice? Tolstoy would soon describe Anna Karenina’s “chesty laugh,” but I am unaware of anything mentioned by him about Sofia’s or Kitty’s voices or laughs. His own laughter, recalled Aylmer Maude, “which began on a high note, had something wonderfully infectious about it. His head would hang over on one side, and his whole body would shake.”XLVI

In February, Tolstoy’s brother Sergei, perhaps still grieving, visited Yasnaya Polyana. Strakhov, passing through on his way south from St. Petersburg, came to visit the Tolstoys at Yasnaya Polyana on February 18–19.

Even for some of us who love Russian literature, Nikolai Nikolaevich Strakhov might seem just a name (his name in fact means fears); he pops up in biographies of Dostoevsky and Tolstoy. He didn’t write fiction or plays or poetry; he was not a giant or some wildman whose life would inspire his colossal friends’ stories or inspire them to reconstruct him into a character. Unmarried, unreligious (though the son of a priest), he had a background in science and philosophy and wrote learned articles about them; he had argued and would continue arguing for recognizing the importance of Darwin’s theories, but he was, primarily, “a critic.” Who needed him?

The more I learned of Tolstoy’s life during his Anna Karenina years, the more necessary Strakhov became; obviously Tolstoy needed him! Strakhov had written long, smart, appreciative essays about War and Peace as it was being published. Later, in 1871, working for a journal, he wrote to Tolstoy to solicit an article, and Tolstoy straight off invited Strakhov to visit Yasnaya Polyana and become acquainted. From 1871 to the end of Strakhov’s life in 1896, he was liked and valued by the entire family. Sofia appreciated his influence on Tolstoy. Strakhov was modest. He was Tolstoy’s admirer without being a flatterer. Though they were the same age, Strakhov knew his literary place was far below Tolstoy’s, so there was no rivalry or assumption of equality between them.


[image: Image]
Nikolay Nikolayevich Strakhov (1828–1896), Tolstoy’s literary conscience and closest friend during the writing of Anna Karenina.XLVII



It’s not likely that Tolstoy confessed to Strakhov this February that he had jumped ship from the Peter the Great project, because a couple of weeks later he complained to him that the writing still wasn’t moving. When in mid-March Tolstoy did abandon Peter the Great for Anna the Greatest, he delayed telling Strakhov.

Two editors, having seen a news item that winter that Tolstoy was working on a novel, contacted him about their interest in publishing it. He ignored their queries.

After a letter-writing dry spell, Tolstoy, as was his habit, wrote several on one day, March 1. He was newsiest and liveliest with his sister-in-law Tatyana; he told her that they had a new English governess, Emily Tabor (Tatyana’s family, living in Russian Georgia, was employing the Tolstoys’ previous English governess, Hannah, whose health needed a warmer climate); he asked if Tatyana had read Alexandre Dumas fils’s essay about marriage, The Man-Woman (L’homme-femme). He didn’t mention to her that it’s a series of cynical reflections in which Dumas famously suggests that if husbands would only beat their wives at the first sign of wandering interest in another man, the wives would stay in line forever.XLVIII (There are a couple of references to Dumas’s essay in Anna Karenina.)

In two of the new month’s letters, Tolstoy complained about the stagnation of the Peter novel. He wrote Strakhov: “My work’s not moving, and again doubt has been found.”XLIX He told Alexandrine he was looking forward to the family summer in Samara at his small simple farm there. Meanwhile, “My work goes poorly. Life is so good, light and short, but the presentation of it comes out so ugly, heavy and long.”L

Strakhov, having meditated on Tolstoy’s various hesitations, wrote, on March 15, all the right things: that is, his esteemed friend did not have to top himself:


With all my soul I desire that the work that so deeply and seriously occupies you gets going finally (as I love these excitements of yours, as they excite me too!). But remember, Lev Nikolaevich, that if you don’t write anything, you all the same remain the creator of the most original and substantial production in Russian literature. When there’s no longer a Russian kingdom, the new people will study War and Peace to find out what the Russian people were.LI



On March 17, 1873, the day before he forsook Peter the Great for the character who became Anna Karenina, Tolstoy wrote to Fet and remarked again that “My work is not moving.”LII






2 A Very Very Rough Rough Draft: March 18, 1873–June 2, 1873


[image: ]

We know that Tolstoy’s reading of a collection of Alexander Pushkin’s fiction on March 18, 1873, brought on an urge to write; sometime later that day, his right hand picked up his pen and, instead of trying again to inspire himself about the court of Peter the Great in 1700, he began describing a modern high-society party where a floozy of a wife was carrying on an affair under the nose of her good, honest husband. The thought of that cuckolded husband mocked by a depraved society evoked more pity and alarm in Tolstoy than the thought that that same wife would kill herself. Her husband, who had been humiliated while she lived and cheated, would soldier on. Or would he kill himself too? Tolstoy wondered. How her suicide would happen, Tolstoy didn’t know or care. The poor husband!

Sofia wrote, in her “Various Notes for Future Reference”:


Last night L. suddenly said to me: “I have written a page and a half, and it seems good.” I assumed this was yet another attempt to write about the Peter the Great period, and didn’t pay much attention.



She must have heard something like this often enough from her husband that his vague mention of that night’s accomplishment did not impress her:


But then I realised that he had in fact embarked on a novel about the private lives of present-day people.



How exactly did she realize that? Had Tolstoy stood up and walked over to her and shyly handed over the page and a half? Did she start to read it and become confused? But, Levochka, what does this have to do with Peter’s time? That’s not true of Peter’s time!

She only remarked in the notes to herself: “So strange, the way he just pitched straight into it.”


… this evening he read various other excerpts from the [Pushkin] book, and under Pushkin’s influence he sat down to write. He went on with his writing today, and said he was well pleased with it.I



In the next four years of working on Anna Karenina, Tolstoy would communicate having had one, maybe two more experiences of being “well pleased” with what he had written that given day. Some of the pleasure of these first two days of work may have had to do with his relief of escaping the complications of the Peter project.

Sofia added a detail concerning the second day of his work that helps dissolve the image we might conjure up of artists as relentless slaves to their work. Tolstoy was not working all day; sometimes he was out playing: “At the moment he is out looking at the fox with his two sons, their tutor Fyodor Fyodorovich and Uncle Kostya. This fox runs past the bridge near our house every day.”II

That fox might be seen running through Tolstoy’s procrastinating mind for the next several years; mostly in periods of feeling unable to write, he would, grumbling about his frustration, get up from his desk and go hunting.

Sofia was now excited for him, for them, and on March 19 wrote her sister Tatyana: “Last night Levochka suddenly unexpectedly began writing a novel of contemporary life. The subject of the novel—an unfaithful wife and all the drama proceeding from this.”III

After Tolstoy had been working happily on Anna Karenina for a week, he wrote to Strakhov. After commiserating with his friend’s health problems, he shyly opened up: “Now I’ll tell you about myself, but please, keep it a great secret, because nothing may come of what I have to say.”


Nearly all my working time this winter I have spent studying Peter, i.e., summoning up spirits from that time, and suddenly a week ago Seryozha, my eldest son, began to read Yury Miloslavsky with enthusiasm. I thought he was too young, and read it with him, then my wife brought up The Tales of Belkin, thinking she would find something suitable for Seryozha, but of course found he was too young. After work I happened to pick up this volume of Pushkin, and as is always the case, read it all through (for the 7th time, I think), unable to tear myself away and seemingly reading it for the first time. But more than that, it seemed to resolve all my doubts.IV



The resolution of his doubts had to be about quitting the Peter project. The light from Pushkin’s brilliance exposed Tolstoy’s efforts’ seeming lifelessness.

It’s as if Tolstoy woke up in Pushkin-world and put on his own seven-league boots and started striding over the heads of all the other writers:V


Not only Pushkin, but nothing else at all, it seemed, had ever aroused my admiration so much before. The Shot, Egyptian Nights, The Captain’s Daughter!!!VI And then there is the fragment The guests were arriving at the country house. Involuntarily, unwittingly, not knowing why and what would come of it, I thought up characters and events, began to go on with it, then of course changed it, and suddenly all the threads became so well and truly tied up that the result was a novel which I finished in draft form today, a very lively, impassioned and well-finished novel which I’m very pleased with and which will be ready in 2 weeks’ time if God gives me strength, and which has nothing in common with all that I’ve been wrestling with for a whole year.VII



Let’s consider this prediction of Anna Karenina being “ready in 2 weeks’ time” as one of the biggest miscalculations in literary history. And what could Tolstoy have meant by “a novel which I finished in draft form”? Some of us think of drafts as compositions that run all the way from the beginning to end. All the material is on the page; it just needs to be rewritten, reordered, revised. But Tolstoy didn’t mean that. His “draft” of the novel consisted of a few scenes and a list of notes.

His first plan, a story in four parts plus an epilogue, looks like this:


Prologue. She leaves her husband under happy “auspices.” She goes <to meet> to console the bride and meets Gagin [the name of the future Vronsky].

Part 1.

Chapter 1. The guests gathered at the end of winter, and were awaiting the Karenins and talking about them. She arrived and conducted herself indecently with Gagin.

Chapter 2. She has it out with her husband. She reproaches him for previous indifference. “It’s too late.”

Chapter 3. <In the artels> Gagin from the riding-ring gathers himself to go to the meeting. His mother and brother advise him to go to her. <Party at her place. The husband.>

4th Chapter. Dinner at the Karenins’ with Gagin. The husband, conversation with the brother. St[epan] Ark[ad’ich] calms things down on the account of the German party and on account of his wife.

5th Chapter. The races—he falls.

Chapter 6. She runs to him, reveals her pregnancy, revelation to her husband.VIII



The basic story had come to him in a few scenes. He would not hereafter be inventing all the plot points. Those of us who have read the novel can recognize these notes’ connections to it. But Tolstoy has not created the Anna we know yet. The most cinematic pre-cinema scene in literature, the horserace, is in place—with the consequent fall. Tolstoy never imagined Vronsky winning that race. No matter what, Vronsky will fall off his horse, and his fall will precipitate Anna’s announcement of her pregnancy to her husband.


Part 2.

Chapter 1. The lovers sit, and he begs her to separate from her husband. She separates and says that “I’m dying.”

Chapter 2. The husband is in Moscow, S[tepan] A[rkad’ich], wearing himself out, goes off to the club, the conversation with his wife. The family of S A. The unhappiness of A[leksei] A[leksandrovich], he says that there is no way out, it is necessary to bear the cross.

<Chapter 3. He reads all the novels, studies the question. Everything is impossible. He goes to Troitsa, the meeting with the nihilists, his consolation. He fasts. The telegram. {She writes:}IX “I’m dying, I ask your forgiveness. Come.”

Chapter 3. Her dream again. Her terror <—the devil>. Leaving him and the son.

Chapter 4. Birth, both sob.—Safe.

5th Chapter. She steadies herself on Christian feeling, she lowers the blinds, and remembers everything and suffers. They whisper to themselves that this is impossible.

6th Chapter: St[epan] Ark proposes the divorce. The last futile [?], he agrees and leaves.

<3rd Part.>

Chapter 6: St[epan] Ark engineers the request of G[agin] and N[ana], and A[leksei] A[leksandrovich] agrees to turn the oth[er] cheek.X



Of Part 2, drifting into Part 3, we see the primary characteristic of Karenin: he will bear the suffering.


Part 3.

Chapter 1. Guffawing in society. They want sympathy. He comes; but at home he sobs.

Chapter 2. [She is] <Outcast> in society; nobody comes <except for rubbish, she shines. His scene to her.

Chapter 3. He pulls away, the son to the motherXI, and he writhes like a butterfly.

4th Chapter. Nihilists at her place. He leaves> he scolds them. <She becomes jealous. So it’s necessary to leave for the country.

5th Chapter. He plays at the club. They are in the country, nothing besides animal relations; they built a life for what? He leaves. {“}So I leave, too.{”}

6th Chapter. It is established: he is in society, she is at home, her despair.XII



Things are bad for Anna. Even if we cannot detect much sympathy from Tolstoy in these little details, we see at least her isolation.


4th Part.

Chapter 1. A[leksei] A[leksandrovich] hangs about like an unhappy person and is destroyed. His brothers. St[epan] Ark sees her and feels she is unhappy and wants to help her. The only thing—Christian love. She pushes away. The dispersal of finances. The ice melts. She complains and despairs.

2nd Chapter. He is happy, he comes. A babbler excites her jealousy. But the home is unhappy. It’s impossible to go to war.

3rd Chapter. An affront from Prince M. on children. Babbler, jealousy, “debacle” feeling. Holiday [?] [indecipherable], another dream.

4th Chapter. A[leksei] A[leksandrovich] comes.> With Gag[in] a terrible scene. I’m not guilty.

5th Chapter. She leaves the house and casts herself away.

6th Chapter. Both the husband, the brother.



Finally:


Epilogue. A[leksei] A[leksandrovich] raises <the children> the son>. Gagin in Tashkent.XIII



These couple of pages, containing some seeds that will grow and some that won’t, sprout into several hundred pages.

Later this spring, Tolstoy imagines what will become Part I of the novel. He sketchily invents Stiva’s tumultuous life and in “Variant No. 4” creates Levin:


Part 1

Ch. 1 Stepan Arkad’ich wakes up and explains himself to his wife.

Ch. 2 Stepan Arkad’ich sees Ordyntsev [Levin]. Ordyntsev is full of life. A bunch of business.

Ch. 3 At the zoological garden, Ordyntsev with the bull and skates with Kitty.

Ch. 4 Dinner <and explanation about marriage> of three. Stepan Arkad’ich rides <home> to mother-in-law’s, reconciliation. I’m guilty, what do you want?

Ch. 5 <Party at the Shcherbatskis’. Ordyntsev told a lie, confused.>

Ch. 6 <He goes to the country.>

Ch. 7 <Reconciliation with Dolly.>

Ch. 8 The arrival of Anna Karenina. At the railroad.

Ch. 9 She captivates everyone.

Ch. 10 The ball at the governor’s and departure for Petersburg with Udashev [Vronsky].XIV





Even though by 1873 Tolstoy had been a professional writer for twenty years and had had enough experience to estimate the time that a piece would require, he was never professional in the sense that he held himself to deadlines or page counts. When he was guessing that he could write Anna Karenina in two weeks, he must have been foreseeing a novel the size of Childhood or Family Happiness (about ninety pages). Even given two weeks, Tolstoy never composed at the terrific speed Dostoevsky could occasionally desperately summon. God or luck gave Tolstoy strength, but not the kind of strength that flows like a river. Tolstoy’s power for composition was more like a thunderstorm. Here today, maybe tomorrow, but then gone for weeks or months at a time.

Professionalism is nothing to despise in an artist; Anton Chekhov and Anthony Trollope, two of Tolstoy’s greatest literary contemporaries, both of whose work he admired, took pride in their ability to meet publishers’ and editors’ deadlines and specifications. Those two wrote so fast that the deadlines even helped them stay paced and focused. Professionalism did not make them lesser artists.

Tolstoy, on the other hand, only rushed when readying a truly finished book or a new collected edition, when he didn’t have the patience or interest to proofread. But in the midst of creating a work, he never rushed, never completed something just because a deadline was looming and an editor was pleading for the promised manuscript.

What Tolstoy saw “in draft form” on March 25 and what he would finish four years later are different in focus, size, and dimension. He did not suspect in which of many possible directions the creative fires of Anna Karenina would burn. If he could have known the effort the novel was going to take, he probably would have stopped in his tracks and extinguished what he had started.

Or, to try another analogy, he was like an architect designing what he thought was a summer cottage and it became, instead, a cathedral. Because it was being built on his own land, on his own dime, the transformation of its size did not inhibit him.

It’s hard to think of Tolstoy as naïve, but there was something naïve about his time estimates in regard to creative works. He wrote Strakhov:


If I finish it, I’ll publish it as a separate book, but I very much want you to read it. Will you undertake to read the proofs, with a view to its being published in Petersburg?XV



More than four years later, in January of 1878, the book edition of Anna Karenina, its proofreading shepherded and completed by Strakhov, would hit the bookshops.

But Tolstoy was not someone who sent hasty letters. He was self-conscious enough, self-aware enough, that he did not send this March 25 letter to Strakhov until a couple of months later.

At the end of March, twelve days after he had begun Anna Karenina, he took another try at outing himself about the new novel. Having exclaimed his praise of Pushkin’s fiction, Tolstoy told his friend Pavel Golokhvastov: “My new study of it made a powerful impression on me. I’m working, but not at all on what I intended.”XVI

But he didn’t send this letter right away, either. For the first eight weeks that spring, the only people who knew what he was now working on were Sofia and her sister Tatyana. Perhaps he didn’t want to set up expectations again, to be asked about the new project’s progress. But it was going well, and good news can wait.



There is a rival “origin” story of the novel, invented by SofiaXVII:


Yesterday afternoon he told me he had had the idea of writing about a married woman of noble birth who ruined herself. He said his purpose was to make this woman pitiful, not guilty, and he told me that no sooner had he imagined this character clearly than the men and other characters he had thought up all found their places in the story. “It’s suddenly become clear to me,” he said. He decided yesterday that the educated peasant he had thought up would be a bailiff.XVIII



Sofia will prove a valuable but fitful diary-keeper and memoirist. Recounting her life in her diaries and a memoir, however, she was often content to approximate. She obliviously paraphrased or misquoted even herself; she more than occasionally related inconsistent or contradictory details; she also had bouts of willful or accidental forgetfulness.

She wrote that note above, she claimed, on February 24, 1870, but this entry was not on the pages of her usual diary. Her husband’s idea does sound uncannily like Anna Karenina, notwithstanding the bailiff. But we know from Tolstoy’s drafts over the first year of actual composition that there was no such realization of the characters orbiting around the star Anna.

He saw his original “Anna” as guilty as sin. He did not come to the story with sympathy or even pity for her, a cheating wife. Tolstoy would never have thought for a moment about how “pitiful” and “not guilty” Sofia would have been if she had run off with another man. As it was, Tolstoy could lose his wits if Sofia just smilingly poured tea for a male guest or sat at the piano next to an attentive male and ran her hands over the keys. Tolstoy, whose hair-trigger jealousy was well matched by Sofia’s, is unlikely to have told her that he wanted to make the Anna character “pitiful, not guilty.”XIX In conversation Tolstoy never expressed enlightened views about women. His art, the revelation of his deepest, best self, showed his enlightenment, and has made us realize the keenest feelings and thoughts of a brilliant, sympathetic woman, Anna; otherwise, his everyday remarks about women were those of a conventional aristocratic Russian male of the 19th century.

Tolstoy’s first impulse in telling the story to a pregnant Sofia in 1870 would most probably have been to remind her what happened to women who ran off from their husbands. The real Anna Karenina was going to develop from his artistic and morally greater response. When he began the plans and drafts he condemned the Anna character and then, many pages into the drafts, began to comprehend her and, with misgivings, love her.

Tolstoy believed art happened only when the artist saw the humanity of the people about whom he was telling a story. As he wrote his fiction, Tolstoy tried to demand of himself that he deal with what he had actually created rather than with the confinements of his own initial judgments and conceptions. His art challenged his own and everyone else’s conventionality.



Before we meet Anna in Part 1, before Tolstoy invented that impressive introduction to the novel’s protagonist, he had written hundreds of pages of drafts.

We owe to Sofia our being able to read those scattered plans, drafts, and false starts of the novel. She saved everything she could of what he wrote. However frustrating or defensive her commentary could be, she was also the greatest of Tolstoy’s assistants and always expressed more sense than he about the current and future value of his work.
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